
Vestavia Hills 
City Council Agenda 

January 13, 2020 
6:00 PM 

1. Call to Order              

2. Roll Call 

3. Invocation – Butch Williams; Vestavia Hills Senior Chaplain  

4. Pledge Of Allegiance  

5. Announcements and Guest Recognition 

6. Certificate Of Recognition – Julie Harper, Civic Activities Coordinator 

7. Proclamation – Human Trafficking Awareness Month – January 2020 

8. City Manager’s Report 

9. Councilors’ Reports 

10. Financial Reports – Melvin Turner, III, Finance Director 

11. Approval Of Minutes – December 9, 2019 (Regular Meeting), December 16, 2019 (Work 

Session) and December 16, 2019 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business 

New Business 

12. Resolution Number 5216 - A Resolution Authorizing A Special Economic Development 

Agreement By The City Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama And Maddox Enterprises, LP 

13. Resolution Number 5217 – A Resolution Appointing A Member To The Jefferson-Blount-St. 

Clair Mental Health Authority Board 

14. Ordinance Number 2907 – An Ordinance Accepting A Request For Proposal For The Sale Of 

Concessions To Patrons At City Recreational Facilities And Authorizing The Mayor And City 

Manager To Execute And Deliver An Agreement With FH Concession Group For The Sale Of 

Concessions To Patrons At City Recreational Facilities 

New Business (Requesting Unanimous Consent) 

First Reading (No Action To Be Taken At This Meeting) 

15. Ordinance Number 2905 – An Ordinance To Approve A Contract To Purchase The Real Estate 

And Improvements Situated At 3995-3103 Greendale Road In The City Of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama Consisting Of Approximately 0.34 Acres, More Or Less (“Property”) And 

Authorizing And Directing The Mayor And City Manager To Execute And Deliver Said The 



Contract And Any And All Other Documents Necessary To Close The Sale Pursuant To The 

Terms, Provisions And Conditions Of Said Contract   (public hearing) 

16. Ordinance Number 2906 – Rezoning – 3122, 3128, 3134, and 3136 Sunview Drive; Rezone 

from Vestavia Hills B-2, Inst, Agriculture to Vestavia Hills B-1.2.  Thomas Holdings, Owners 

(public hearing) 

17. Ordinance Number 2908 –An Ordinance Adopting And Enacting Procedures And 

Requirements For Unclaimed Property For The City Of Vestavia Hills Police Department And 

Municipal Court   (public hearing) 

18. Citizens Comments 

19. Motion for Adjournment 

 



 
 
 
 

On behalf of the City of Vestavia Hills, it is with great pleasure that  
I present this Certificate of Recognition to 

 
 JULIE HARPER 

 
for your 32 years of dedicated service to the City of Vestavia Hills. 
At this milestone in your life, we would like to take this opportunity  
to express our appreciation to you for the service you have rendered  
to the Parks and Recreation department and to our city.  You are to  
be commended for the loyalty and dedication you have demonstrated  
to the community of Vestavia Hills. 
 
The City Council joins me in congratulating you as you celebrate this 
occasion, and we offer our best wishes for today and many more years. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have  
hereunto set my hand and caused  
the Seal of the City of Vestavia Hills  
to be affixed this the 13th day of  
January 2020. 
 
 
____________________________________
_______ 
Ashley C. Curry, Mayor 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WHEREAS, human trafficking is a very real problem facing the world today and can take many forms 

including debt bondage, forced marriage, slavery and commercial sexual exploitation; and 
 
WHEREAS, every case goes against the core principles of individual freedom and civil rights that our 

state and nation stand for; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills is committed to ensuring that our community remains on the 

front lines in combating this deplorable crime and is committed to becoming a 
TraffickingFree Zone; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to its secretive and illegal nature, it is difficult to accurately quantify the extent of 

human trafficking. The U.S. Department of State estimates that 600,000 to 800,000 
people are trafficked across international borders each year; and  

 
WHEREAS, most victims of human trafficking are women or children who have been marginalized 

and isolated from society, and the difficulty in grasping the full scope of this problem can 
be further compounded because people often turn a blind eye to it; and  

 
WHEREAS, the first step in eliminating human trafficking is to educate others.  We must work 

together as a community to ensure that our residents are aware of this problem and how to 
identify it, and we must ensure that human traffickers are punished and victims are 
protected and assisted. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Ashley C. Curry, by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the City of 

Vestavia Hills in the State of Alabama, do hereby proclaim January 2020 as 
 

   HUMAN TRAFFICKING AWARENESS MONTH 
 

and encourage all residents to join us in raising the visibility of this crime, become more 
informed about this pressing issue, and work to combat its injustice. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set 
my hand and caused the Seal of the City of 
Vestavia Hills to be affixed this the 8th day of 
January 2020. 
 
 
______________________________ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 



City Council Minutes 
December 9, 2019 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

DECEMBER 9, 2019 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 6:00 PM, 
following publication and posting pursuant to Alabama law.  Mayor Curry called the meeting to 
order and the City Clerk called the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:    Mayor Ashley C. Curry  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
Paul Head, Councilor 

      George Pierce, Councilor 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Asst. Finance Director 
      Danny Rary, Police Chief 
      Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
      Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
      Ryan Farrell, Fire Marshal 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
 

David Phillips, Vestavia Hills Chaplain, led the invocation followed by the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION  
 

 Mr. Pierce welcomed Chamber Board members Ben Chambliss and Mark McCoy.  
 The Mayor welcomed visiting VHHS Junior Government students. 

 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

 Mr. Downes stated in July 2019, ADEM began the next phase of stormwater management.  
This requires that the City adopt a City stormwater plan which requires an annual update.  
This is set to be reviewed and adopted.  This annual renewal will include a conversation 
and presentation to the Council on various aspects of the stormwater management plan.  
The current ordinance limits actions of enforcement that can be taken on repeat offenders.  
At the next work session, on December 16, a conversation with the Council will be led by 



City Council Minutes 
December 9, 2019 

Page 2 
 

the City Engineer, Christopher Brady.   Following that work session, public hearings will 
be scheduled concerning the update.  

 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

 Mr. Head stated that the Parks and Recreation Board will have their meeting on December 
16 at 7:30 AM in the Executive Conference Room.  He stated that the Council will appoint 
a new member tonight.  He expressed appreciation to the people who applied for the 
vacancy. 

 Mr. Weaver stated that the Planning and Zoning Commission had a work session last 
Wednesday in preparation for Thursday’s regular meeting. 

 Mayor Curry mentioned the events from the Holiday in the Hills beginning with the tree 
lighting ceremony.  He stated these events have been going very well and include so many 
groups it is hard to mention them all.  The Breakfast with Santa had more people than ever 
to attend at an estimated 575 people.  He thanked all the volunteers who make these events 
successful.   

 Mr. Pierce echoed the Mayor’s comments and indicated that the parade was also a 
fantastic event.  He stated he will attend the Chamber luncheon with entertainment from 
Pizitz Girls Choir. 

 Mrs. Cook stated she enjoyed riding in the Christmas parade yesterday. 
 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
 Melvin Turner, III, Finance Director, presented the Finance Reports for month ending 
November, 2019.  He read and explained the balances. 
 
 Mrs. Cook asked why ad valorem taxes were down. Discussion ensued as to a delay in 
some ad valorem taxes because of the number of residents who have protested their ad valorem 
assessments. 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for approval of the following minutes: November 13, 2019 
(Regular Meeting); November 18, 2019 (Work Session); November 25, 2019 (Work Session); 
November 25, 2019 (Regular Meeting); November 26, 2019 (Work Session). 
 
MOTION Motion to approve the minutes of the November 13, 2019 (Regular Meeting); 

November 18, 2019 (Work Session); November 25, 2019 (Work Session); 
November 25, 2019 (Regular Meeting); November 26, 2019 (Work Session) was 
by Mrs. Cook, seconded by Mr. Weaver.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes    Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes    Mr. Weaver – yes  
   Mayor Curry – yes     motion carried. 



City Council Minutes 
December 9, 2019 

Page 3 
 

 
 

OLD BUSINESS  
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5208 
 

Resolution Number 5208 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Issue A Refund 
For Overpayment Of Privilege Licenses/Sales Taxes   (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5208 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this is a refund request from a company who overpaid on their 
account.  Their request was reviewed and is recommended for approval by the Finance Director.  
This company overstated their gas taxes. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5209 
 

Resolution Number 5209 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Issue A Refund 
For Overpayment Of Privilege Licenses/Sales Taxes 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5209 was by Mrs. Cook seconded by Mr. 

Weaver.  
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this is a refund request for a company who overpaid on their 
account.  Their request was reviewed and is recommended for approval by the City’s Finance 
Director.  This company reported certain tax exempt sales as taxable sales. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
December 9, 2019 

Page 4 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5210 
 

Resolution Number 5210 - A Resolution Declaring Certain Personal Property As Surplus 
And Authorizing The City Manager To Sell/Dispose Of Said Property 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5210 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this will make possible the sale of a 2012 VHFD Jeep which is no 
longer operational and therefore is no longer useful to the City. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5211 
 

Resolution Number 5211 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute An 
Easement Agreement For Alabama Power At Wald Park 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5211 was by Mrs. Cook seconded by Mr. 

Weaver.  
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this is an easement for power to the concession stand. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5214 
 

Resolution Number 5214 – A Resolution Appointing A Member To The Vestavia Hills Parks 
And Recreation Board 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5214 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mrs. 

Cook.  
 
 Mr. Head stated that the Council interviewed applicants and that he recommends the 
appointment of Danny Marshall to the Parks and Recreation Board. 
 



City Council Minutes 
December 9, 2019 

Page 5 
 

MOTION Motion to insert the name Danny Marshall as appointee was made by Mr. Head 
and seconded by Mr. Weaver.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5215 
 

Resolution Number 5215 – A Resolution Appointing A Member To The Vestavia Hills 
Library Board 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5215 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mrs. 

Cook.  
 
 The Mayor passed the gavel to Mayor Pro-Tem Weaver. 
 
 The Mayor stated that the Council had interviewed the only applicant for the Library 
Board.  He stated that he recommends the appointment of Kevin Archer to the Library Board. 
 
MOTION Motion to insert the name of Kevin Archer as appointee was made by Mayor Curry 

and seconded by Mrs. Cook.  Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 Mr. Weaver passed back the gavel to the Mayor. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2903 
 

Ordinance Number 2903 – An Ordinance Authorizing The Execution And Delivery Of An 
Agreement For Access Easement, Improvement, Temporary Construction 



City Council Minutes 
December 9, 2019 

Page 6 
 

Easement, Maintenance And Shared Parking Easement By And Between 
Dolly Ridge Development, LLC And The City Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2903 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this easement and access agreement coincides with the Cahaba 
Heights Park project to create an additional level of traffic flow and allow more efficient 
movement with shared parking. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS (UNANIMOUS CONSENT REQUESTED) 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor announced that the following resolutions and/or ordinances will be presented 
at a public hearing at the Council’s regular meeting on December 16, 2019 (rescheduled from 
December 23, 2019 due to the holidays), beginning at 6:00 PM. 

 Resolution Number 5212 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Purchase 
Cancer Insurance Coverage For Vestavia Hills Fire Fighters Pursuant To Act 2019-361  
(public hearing) 

 Resolution Number 5213 – Vacation – Ingress/Egress Easement Located On Lot 5C, 
Patchwork Farms Recorded In Map Book 241, Page 34, Jefferson County Judge Of 
Probate And In A Certain Reciprocal Easement And Maintenance Agreement Of Lots 
5A, 5B And 5C, Patchwork Farms As Recorded In LR201515, Page 14992, Jefferson 
County Judge Of Probate; Christopher LLC, Owner    (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2900 – Rezoning – 2926 Columbiana Road (2927 Columbiana 
Court); Elevation Apartments (Formerly Windcliff Apartments); Rezone From 
Jefferson County R-4 (Multi-Family Residential) To Vestavia Hills R-5 (Multi-Family 
Residential), Compatible Zoning From A 1983 Annexation; ECG Vestavia, LLC; 
Summit Vestavia I, LLC; Summit Vestavia II, LLC As Tenants In Common, Owners   
(public hearing)    

 Ordinance Number 2901 – Rezoning For A Revised Site Plan And A Conditional Use 
Approval – 3127 Blue Lake Drive; Lot 10A-, Resurvey Of Lots 8, 9 & 10, Topfield 
Subdivision And Lot 11, Topfield Subdivision; The Purpose Of The Request Is To 
Revise A Site Plan Of A B-1.2 Zoned Development And A Conditional Use Approval 
To Allow An Additional 2,500 Square Foot To Allow For A Total 12,500 Square Foot 
Building; SWBP Investments, LLC, Owners     (public hearing) 



City Council Minutes 
December 9, 2019 

Page 7 
 

 
CITIZEN COMMENTS 

 
 None. 
 
 
 At 6:24 PM, Mr. Weaver made a motion to adjourn.  The meeting adjourned at 6:25 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Work Session Minutes 
Page 1 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

DECEMBER 16, 2019 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in a regular scheduled work session on this 
day in the Executive Conference Room at 5:00 PM, following posting/publication as 
required by Alabama law.  The City Clerk checked the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry 
      Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
      Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
      Paul J. Head, Councilor 
      George Pierce, Councilor 
  
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  
      Patrick H. Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Cinnamon McCulley, Communications  
       Specialist  
      Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
      Marvin Green, Fire Chief 

Ryan Farrell, Fire Marshal 
 
 The Mayor called the work session to order.   
 
 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO ZONING CODE 
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that Hoover has revised their zoning code to prohibit any vape 
shops or payday loan businesses to be located within 1,000 feet of a school or 500 feet of 
a residential area.  He stated that Hoover began with a moratorium on said businesses and 
worked toward this conditional use because the City was seeing a number of these 
businesses opening up in various areas. 
 
 The Mayor stated that he would like to obtain the City Attorney’s opinion on 
regulating of businesses by type.  He mentioned that other types of businesses could be 
considered detrimental to a person’s health and asked where to draw the line. 
 



City Council Work Session Minutes 
Page 2 

 

 Mr. Weaver admitted that these type of businesses go to areas where there is market 
feasibility and haven’t actually located here for lack of said market, but it might be worth 
considering before the issue arises. 
 
 Discussion ensued that vape supplies can be purchased at local convenience stores. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that he could put aside some time during the Council’s strategic 
planning session next month to discuss these businesses and this amendment. 
 
 
 

ANNUAL UPDATE ON STORMWATER ORDINANCE 
 
 Christopher Brady, City Engineer, explained the City’s recently adopted 
Stormwater Ordinance and the City’s participation in the NPDES Permitting.  He explained 
that the requirements of this permit would include an annual evaluation and update of the 
plan. 
 
 Mr. Brady pulled the information on the webpage and showed a presentation 
detailing the recent analysis of the program.  He indicated that this past year’s statistics 
showed the City inspections hitting at a 90% rate (70% for ADEM sites) but also stated 
that it was found that recent inspection rates appear to be hitting more toward 100% 
because of adjustments and corrections in the reporting system. 
 
 Mr. Brady gave statistics on the number of land disturbance permits that are active 
and detailed how many fall under ADEM.  He explained that even though they were under 
ADEM, the City still had inspection responsibilities. 
 
 Discussion ensued.  Mr. Downes suggested that the inspection tendencies hit highs 
and lows because of adjustment in weather and construction sites.  He mentioned that when 
times of inspections are the greatest, it might be worthwhile to either train additional 
employees to do inspections or contract out some of the overflow inspections. 
 
 Mr. Brady gave a listing of city-owned BMP sites.  He stated the wish to amend the 
Ordinance to better address repeat violators.  He indicated that the goal would be to adopt 
the revised plan by the end of January. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
 
 
 



City Council Work Session Minutes 
Page 3 

 

ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 
December 16, 2019 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

DECEMBER 16, 2019 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 6:00 PM, 
following publication and posting pursuant to Alabama law.  Mayor Curry called the meeting to 
order and the City Clerk called the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:    Mayor Ashley C. Curry  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
Paul Head, Councilor 

      George Pierce, Councilor 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Asst. Finance Director 
      Danny Rary, Police Chief 
      Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
      Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
      Ryan Farrell, Fire Marshal 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
 

Don Richards, Vestavia Hills Chaplain, led the invocation followed by the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION  
 

 Mr. Pierce welcomed Chamber Board member John Henley, who was the pancake chef at 
the recent Breakfast with Santa.  Mr. Pierce thanked him for those efforts.  He indicated 
that Mr. Henley was the incoming Chairman of the Board for the Chamber.  

 Mr. Pierce urged everyone to shop and dine in the City. 
 Mr. Weaver stated that the Planning and Zoning Commission met last week and 

considered applicant requests. 
 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

 Mr. Downes announced that the strategic planning meetings with the City Council will be 
held on January 29 and 30.  He stated that “Vestavia Hills Listens” portal is a tool that 



City Council Minutes 
December 16, 2019 

Page 2 
 

will provide citizen feedback for these meetings and stated that there is an open poll which 
ends on December 20 to seek input regarding the strategic process.  He stated that there 
are fewer responses this year than last year so the communications people are reaching 
out in an attempt to elicit more responses. 

 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

 Mrs. Cook stated she attended the school board meeting this evening and the big news 
was that State Senator Jabo Waggoner has made a gift of $40,000 to pay for a Safe Schools 
Alert System, which is a mobile app to give students a way to report health or safety 
concerns.  The grant will also help train teachers so they can better understand mental 
health and family issues, which will be a great benefit to the community. 

 Mrs. Cook encouraged everyone to review the Inter-City Recycling Challenge page on 
the City website.  She explained that, in the first month of the increased effort to reduce 
contamination, the City contamination rate actually increased one percent.  She stated she 
hopes the next month will be much better as information is disseminated throughout the 
City.  She stated that there is also a City webpage which has been set up to explain how 
to recycle correctly and reduce contamination. 

 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 None.   
 
 

OLD BUSINESS  
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5212 
 

Resolution Number 5212 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Purchase 
Cancer Insurance Coverage For Vestavia Hills Fire Fighters Pursuant To Act 
2019-361  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5212 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mrs. 

Cook.  
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this Resolution is to purchase cancer insurance, effective January 
2020, pursuant to Alabama Act 2019-361.  He indicated that a better quote was submitted at the 
last moment and he recommended an amendment to the resolution to accept the new low bidder. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a motion to amend. 
 
MOTION Motion to amend Resolution 5212 to accept the quote from Chubb rather than the 

quote submitted by The Hartford was made by Mrs. Cook seconded by Mr. 
Weaver.  Roll call vote as follows: 



City Council Minutes 
December 16, 2019 

Page 3 
 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.   There being no one to further address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5213 
 

Resolution Number 5213 – Vacation – Ingress/Egress Easement Located On Lot 5C, 
Patchwork Farms Recorded In Map Book 241, Page 34, Jefferson County 
Judge Of Probate And In A Certain Reciprocal Easement And Maintenance 
Agreement Of Lots 5A, 5B And 5C, Patchwork Farms As Recorded In 
LR201515, Page 14992, Jefferson County Judge Of Probate; Christopher 
LLC, Owner    (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5213 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this request would be to vacate an ingress/egress easement through 
this lot that was recorded in the private restrictive covenants but not detailed on any plat map.  He 
stated that the petition was signed by the property owners affected and was reviewed and 
recommended for approval by the City Engineer. 
 
 Chris Reebals was present in regard to this request. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.   There being no one to further address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2900 
 

Ordinance Number 2900 – Rezoning – 2926 Columbiana Road (2927 Columbiana Court); 
Elevation Apartments (Formerly Windcliff Apartments); Rezone From 
Jefferson County R-4 (Multi-Family Residential) To Vestavia Hills R-5 
(Multi-Family Residential), Compatible Zoning From A 1983 Annexation; 



City Council Minutes 
December 16, 2019 

Page 4 
 

ECG Vestavia, LLC; Summit Vestavia I, LLC; Summit Vestavia II, LLC As 
Tenants In Common, Owners   (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2900 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that this request was recently considered by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and unanimously recommended for approval.  He stated these apartments were 
annexed in 1983 but were never compatibly rezoned.  This action will rezone them to a compatible 
Vestavia Hills zoning classification. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.    
 
 Jaclyn Williams, Property Manager, stated she was present in regard to this request. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing 
and called for the question.  Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2901 
 

Ordinance Number 2901 – Rezoning For A Revised Site Plan And A Conditional Use 
Approval – 3127 Blue Lake Drive; Lot 10A-, Resurvey Of Lots 8, 9 & 10, 
Topfield Subdivision And Lot 11, Topfield Subdivision; The Purpose Of The 
Request Is To Revise A Site Plan Of A B-1.2 Zoned Development And A 
Conditional Use Approval To Allow An Additional 2,500 Square Foot To 
Allow For A Total 12,500 Square Foot Building; SWBP Investments, LLC, 
Owners     (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2901 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that this request was recently considered by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and unanimously recommended for approval.  He stated this request would be to 
allow a revised site plan for a planned commercial development and allow an additional 2,500 
square feet within the building to allow for a 12,500 sq. ft. medical office building. 
 
 Mrs. Cook asked Mr. Weaver if there had been any residents expressing concern regarding 
this application at the Planning and Zoning hearing. Mr. Weaver stated there were not. 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
December 16, 2019 

Page 5 
 

 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.   There being no one to further address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

NEW BUSINESS (UNANIMOUS CONSENT REQUESTED) 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor announced that the following resolutions and/or ordinances will be presented 
at a public hearing at the Council’s regular meeting on January 13, 2020, at 6:00 PM. 

 None 

 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 Patrick Boone, 2415 Vestavia Drive, wished everyone a Merry Christmas and a Happy 
New Year. 
 
 
 At 6:20 PM, Mr. Weaver made a motion to adjourn.  The meeting adjourned at 6:21 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
  
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Resolution Number 5216 
Page 1 

 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5216 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A SPECIAL ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BY THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA AND MADDOX ENTERPRISES, LP 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 

HILLS, ALABAMA (THE "COUNCIL"), AS GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA (the "Municipality"), as follows: 

SECTION 1. The Council, upon evidence duly presented to and considered by it, has 
found and determined, and does hereby find, determine and declare as follows: 

(a) Pursuant to the applicable laws of the State of Alabama, the Municipality and 
Maddox Enterprises, LP (the "Owner") have prepared that certain Special Economic Development 
Agreement to be dated the date of delivery (the "Special Economic Development Agreement"), as 
set forth hereinafter, for the purposes referenced therein. 

(b) The Municipality is without absolute authority or power under any local 
constitutional amendment to do any of the actions or undertakings referenced in Amendment No. 
772 of the Constitution of Alabama of 1901, as amended ("Amendment No. 772"). 

 (c)  The Municipality is authorized under Amendment No. 772 to “(3) Lend its credit 
to or grant public funds and things of value in aid of or to any individual, firm, corporation, or 
other business entity, public or private, for the purpose of promoting the economic and industrial 
development of the county or the municipality.” 

 
 (d) Pursuant to, and for the purposes of, Amendment No. 772, it is necessary, desirable 

and in the public interest for the Municipality to grant public funds in an amount of approximately 
$37,500.00 for the economic development of the Municipality pursuant to the terms of the Special 
Economic Development Agreement. 

(e) The expenditure of public funds for the purposes specified in the Special Economic 
Development Agreement will serve a valid and sufficient public purpose, notwithstanding any 
incidental benefit accruing to any private entity or entities. 

(f) (1) On December 27, 2019, the Municipality caused to be published in The 
Birmingham News, which newspaper has the largest circulation in the Municipality, the notice 
required by Amendment No. 772(c)(2), a true and correct copy of which notice is set forth as 
follows: 

“LEGAL NOTICE  
OF  

PUBLIC MEETING AND PUBLIC HEARING  
ON MONDAY, JANUARY 13, 2020  

OF 
CITY COUNCIL OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 



Resolution Number 5216 
Page 2 

 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council (the "Council") of the City of Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama (the "City") will meet in public session at 6:00 p.m. on Monday, 
January 13, 2020 at the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center in the City of Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama for the purpose of considering the transaction of business that may 
properly come before the Council, such business to include, but not be limited to, 
the authorization by the Council, pursuant to Amendment No. 772 of the 
Constitution of Alabama of 1901, as amended, of a resolution (the "Resolution") 
approving the execution and delivery of a Special Economic Development 
Agreement (the “City Agreement”) by the City and Maddox Enterprises, LP (the 
“Owner”), to be dated the date of delivery, pursuant to which City Agreement the 
City shall make available to the Owner a financial economic grant incentive for 
purposes referenced in the City Agreement. 

The City Agreement shall evidence the agreement of the City to make the following 
economic development grants to the Owner for the purpose of promoting the 
economic development of the City regarding the real estate situated at 1459 
Montgomery Highway in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama 
having Parcel ID Number 29-36-4-007-005.000-RR6 and Parcel ID Number 39-
01-1-001-002.000-RR2 being more particularly described in a resurvey dated 
December 4, 2019 prepared by Engineering Design Group, LLC as follows: 
 
“A Resurvey of Lot 1, according to the Motel Investors, Inc. Addition to Vestavia 
Hills, as recorded in Map Book 86, Page 14, in the Probate Office of Jefferson 
County, Alabama.  Purpose of this Resurvey is to take 1 lots into 2 lots. Situated in 
the Northwest ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 1, Township 19 South, Range 3 
West, and the Southwest ¼ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 36, Township 18 South, 
Range 3 West, Jefferson County, Alabama” (the “Property”). 
 
The Property is also described in that Resolution No. 4463 approved and adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (“City”) on June 24, 
2013, which established a lien in the amount of Seventy-five Thousand Dollars 
($75,000.00) against the Property and in favor of the City which said resolution was 
filed in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama on June 
28, 2013 and recorded at BK: LR201315, Pg: 16803 (the “lien”). 
 
The Owner has contracted to sell Lot 1 of the Resurvey of the Property to Waffle 
House, Inc. for the construction and operation of a Waffle House restaurant. 
 
The City Agreement provides in substance as follows: 
(1) The lien shall be amended so as to provide that: (a) the amount of the lien 
shall be reduced from Seventy-five Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00) to Thirty-seven 
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($37,500.00); and (b) Lot 1 to be sold to Waffle 
House, Inc. shall be released from the encumbrance of the lien; and (c) the lien in 
the amount of Thirty-seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($37,500.00) shall 
remain an encumbrance and in full force and effect against Lot 2. 
 



Resolution Number 5216 
Page 3 

 
 

(2) That a restrictive covenant be placed on Lot 1 and Lot 2 that businesses 
operated on said lots shall be in buildings as defined in Section 2.1.17 of the City 
Zoning Code. 
 
The City seeks to achieve, by undertaking its obligations pursuant to the City 
Agreement and the Resolution, to promote the local economic and commercial 
development of the City, to increase employment in the City, and to increase the 
tax and revenue base of the City. 
 
The business entities to whom or for whose benefit the City propose to grant public 
funds ($37,500.00 reduction in the amount of the lien)  or thing of value are the 
Owner and the entities that locate in the facilities established by the Owner. 
 
All interested persons may examine and review the City Agreement, the Resolution, 
and all relevant documents pursuant to which the City Agreement is to be issued 
and secured, and make copies thereof at personal expense, at the offices of the City 
Manager during normal business hours, before and after the meeting referenced 
herein. 
 
Further information concerning the information in this notice can be obtained from 
the City Manager at the offices thereof during normal business hours. “ 

 
  (2) The information set forth in said notice is true and correct. 
 
  (3) Publication of said notice is hereby ratified and confirmed. 
 
 (g) The City has a lien in the amount of $75,000.00 against the Property owned by 
Maddox Enterprises, LP (“Owner”) which said lien is dated June 24, 2013, filed in the office of 
the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama on June 28, 2013 and recorded at BK: 
LR201315, Pg. 16803. 
 
 (h) The Council finds and determines that the expenditure of public funds for the 
purposes specified herein will serve a valid and sufficient public purpose, notwithstanding any 
incidental benefit accruing to any private entity or entities; that the grant of public funds as 
aforesaid will increase employment in the City and increase the tax and revenue base of the City; 
and that the business entities to whom or for whose benefit the City proposes to grant public funds 
($37,500.00 reduction in the amount of the lien) or thing of value are the Owner and the entities 
that locate in the facilities established by the Owner. 
 

SECTION 2. The Council does hereby approve, adopt, authorize, direct, ratify and 
confirm: 

(a) a copy of the Special Economic Development Agreement is attached hereto, 
marked as Exhibit 1 and incorporated into this Resolution Number 5216 by reference as though 
set out fully herein; and 



Resolution Number 5216 
Page 4 

 
 

(b) the agreements, covenants, and undertakings of the Municipality set forth in the 
Special Economic Development Agreement, and 

(c) the terms and provisions of the Special Economic Development Agreement, in 
substantially the form and of substantially the content as set forth as follows, with such changes 
thereto (by addition or deletion) as the Mayor and City Manager shall approve, which approval 
shall be conclusively evidenced by execution and delivery of the Special Economic Development 
Agreement as hereinafter provided. 

SECTION 3. 
 
(a) The Mayor and the City Manager are each hereby authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver the Special Economic Development Agreement for and on behalf of and in the 
name of the Municipality.  The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to affix the official 
seal of the Municipality to the Special Economic Development Agreement and to attest the same. 

(b) The Mayor, the City Manager, and the officers of the Municipality are each hereby 
authorized and directed to take all such actions, and execute, deliver and perform all such 
agreements, documents, instruments, notices, and petitions and proceedings, with respect to the 
Special Economic Development Agreement, as the Mayor and such officers shall determine to be 
necessary or desirable to carry out the provisions of this resolution or the Special Economic 
Development Agreement or duly and punctually observe and perform all agreements and 
obligations of the Municipality under the Special Economic Development Agreement. 

SECTION 4. All prior actions taken, and agreements, documents or notices executed and 
delivered, by the Mayor or any officer or member of the Council or other representative of the 
Municipality, in connection with the agreements, covenants, and undertakings of the Municipality 
hereby approved, or in connection with the preparation of the Special Economic Development 
Agreement and the terms and provisions thereof, are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed. 

 
 SECTION 5. All ordinances, resolutions, orders, or parts of any thereof, of the Council 
in conflict, or inconsistent, with any provision of this resolution hereby are, to the extent of such 
conflict or inconsistency, repealed. 
 
 SECTION 6. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon: 
 
 (a) the approval and adoption thereof by the City Council; and 
 
 (b) the execution and delivery of the Special Economic Development Agreement by 
the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and Maddox Enterprises, LP; and 
 
 (c) Resolution Number 5216 is subject to and contingent upon the closing of the sale 
of Lot 1-A as shown on the resurvey by Maddox Enterprises, LP, as “Seller,” and Waffle House, 
Inc., as “Purchaser”; and 
 
 (d) the execution and delivery of a property Warranty Deed by Maddox Enterprises, 
LP conveying said Lot 1-A to Waffle House, Inc.; and 



Resolution Number 5216 
Page 5 

(e) the deed referred to in (d) above shall be filed for record in the office of the Judge
of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama; and 

(f) filing a certified copy of this Resolution Number 5216 and the Special Economic
Development Agreement for record in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, 
Alabama; and 

(g) if any one or more of the actions described in this Section 6(a), (b), (c), (d), (e) and
(f) are not taken, done or completed, then in such event this Resolution Number 5216 shall
automatically be cancelled, terminated, null, void and of no legal force and effect whatsoever.

 SECTION 7.  Upon the filing of a certified copy of this Resolution Number 5216 and the 
Special Economic Development Agreement for record in the office of the Judge of Probate of 
Jefferson County, Alabama, the following instruments shall be released and cancelled of record as 
to Lot 1 only: 

(a) Lis Pendens recorded in Book LR201213, Page 15108;

(b) Lis Pendens recorded in Book LR201315, Page 297;

(c) Resolution No. 4463 recorded in Book LR201315, Page 16803;

(d) Notice of Certified Judgment recorded in Book LR201316, Page 18474;

(e) Judgment against Maddox Enterprises, LP recorded in Book LR200903, Page
8090. 

These matters, as modified herein, are not released from Lot 2 and shall remain an 
encumbrance and in full force and effect against Lot 2. 

RESOLVED, DONE, ADOPTED and ORDERED, on this the 13th day of 
January, 2020. 

Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 

ATTESTED BY:  

Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Resolution Number 5216 
Page 6 

 
 

After said resolution had been discussed and considered in full by the Council, it was 
moved by Councilmember __________ that said resolution be now placed upon its final passage 
and adopted.  The motion was seconded by Councilmember __________.  The question being put 
as to the adoption of said motion and the final passage and adoption of said resolution, the roll was 
called with the following results: 
 

Ayes: Ashley C. Curry, Mayor 
 Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tempore 
 Kimberly Cook 
 George Pierce 
 Paul Head 

 
 Nays:  None 
 

The Mayor thereupon declared said motion carried and the resolution passed and adopted 
as introduced and read. 

 

 



 
 

       This instrument was prepared by: 
       Patrick H. Boone, Attorney at Law 
       705 New South Federal Savings Building 
       215 Richard Arrington, Jr. Boulevard North 
       Birmingham, Alabama 35203-3720 
       Telephone No. 205-324-2018 
 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 

 
JEFFERSON COUNTY  

 
SPECIAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 THIS SPECIAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“the Agreement”), is 
hereby made and entered on this the _________ day of January, 2020 by and between the City of 
Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “City”), and Maddox 
Enterprises, LP (hereinafter referred to as the “Owner”). 

   
 WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 
 
 WHEREAS, Maddox Enterprises, LP, as Owner, owns the real estate situated at 1459 
Montgomery Highway in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama having Parcel ID 
number 39-01-1-001-002.000-RR2, which at one time was more particularly described as follows: 

 
Lot 1, according to the Survey of Motel Investors Addition to Vestavia Hills, as 
recorded in Map Book 86, Page 14, in the Office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson 
County, Alabama. 
 
Less and except that part conveyed to Koger Properties, Inc. by deed recorded in 
Real Volume 2138, page 797 and that part conveyed to SouthPark, Ltd. by deed 
recorded in Real Volume 2138, page 802; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Maddox Enterprises, LP, as Owner, also owns the real estate situated at 1459 
Montgomery Highway in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama having Parcel ID 
number 29-36-4-007-005.000-RR6, which at one time was more particularly described as follows: 
 

A part of Lot 6, according to the Survey of Shady Springs, Meek’s First Addition, as 
recorded in Map Book 15, Page 31, in the Office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson 
County, Alabama, being situated in the Southwest ¼ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 
36, Township 18 South, Range 3 West, Jefferson County, Alabama and being more 
particularly described as follows: 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 2 
 
 

Commence at the southeast corner of the Southwest ¼ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 
36, Township 18 South, Range 3 West, Jefferson County, Alabama; thence run in a 
Westerly direction along the South line of said ¼-¼ Section line 242.17 feet to the 
Point of Beginning; thence 32 degrees 49 minutes 16 seconds right, and run in a 
Northwesterly direction along a line that is 3.00 feet South of and parallel to the edge 
of a 102” by 62” concrete pipe to a point on a curve, said point being on the easterly 
right-of-way line of U.S. Highway 31; thence 86 degrees 20 minutes 01 seconds left 
to the tangent of said curve having a central angle of 01 degrees 20 minutes 16 
seconds and a radius of 4,483.65 feet; thence run in a Southwesterly direction along 
said right-of-way 104.69 feet to the South ¼-¼ Section line of said ¼ section; thence 
54 degrees 51 minutes 00 seconds left to the tangent of the preceding curve and 
leaving said right-of-way, run 92 feet in an Easterly direction to the Point of 
Beginning; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the real estate and improvements more particularly described above shall 
hereinafter be referred to as the “Property”; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Owner utilized the Property for the operation of a hotel and restaurant for many 
years; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on July 23, 2012 the City Council approved and adopted Resolution Number 
4322 declaring the building on the Property to be unsafe to the extent that it was a public nuisance 
and subject to demolition; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Owner disagreed with the decision of the City Council and filed a Notice of 
Appeal in the Civil Division of the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Alabama in case number CV-
2012-01905 styled City of Vestavia Hills v. Maddox Enterprises, LP, et al (the “lawsuit”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the lawsuit was settled by mediation on May 22, 2013, which Settlement 
Agreement provided that Owner would demolish the building within a seven-month period at its sole 
expense; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on May 29, 2013, the City Council approved and adopted Resolution Number 
4455 approving the settlement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Owner failed and refused to demolish the building as agreed upon in the 
Settlement Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City hired Tomlin Excavating and Demolition to demolish the building; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Tomlin Excavating and Demolition demolished the building; and 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 3 
 
 
 
 WHEREAS, on June 24, 2013, the City Council approved and adopted Resolution Number 
4463 and assessed the sum of Seventy-five Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00) to be the cost reasonably 
incurred by the City through May 22, 2013 in connection with the prosecution of the demolition 
action of the building and established a lien (“lien”) against the Property for that amount; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a copy of the lien was filed in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson 
County, Alabama on June 28, 2013 and recorded at BK: LR201315, Pg. 16803 (the “lien”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to date Owner has paid none of the indebtedness secured by the lien; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Owner has requested the City to forgive the indebtedness of the lien and to 
release the Property from the encumbrance of said lien; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 94 of the Constitution of Alabama, as amended by Amendments 112 
and 558, prohibits a city from lending its credit or to grant public money or thing of value in aide of 
or to any individual, association or corporation whatsoever; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Supreme Court of Alabama has interpreted the language of Section 94 of 
the Constitution of Alabama, and held that governmental bodies such as a city may spend municipal 
funds only for public purposes (Slawson v. Alabama Forestry Commission, 631 So.2d 953 (1994)); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, on April 6, 2004, the Legislature of the State of Alabama enacted Act 2004-
094 to propose an amendment to the Constitution of Alabama of 1901.  The proposed constitutional 
amendment appeared as Amendment Number 3 on the ballot for the statewide referendum conducted 
during the National Election on November 11, 2004.  Voters in Alabama approved the constitutional 
amendment by a vote of 727,630 in favor and 584,014 against.  The constitutional amendment 
known as “Amendment 772” was, therefore, ratified and brought forward as Article IV, §94.01 to 
the Constitution of Alabama of 1901, which reads in pertinent part as follows: 
 

 “(a) The governing body of any county, and the governing body of any 
municipality located therein, for which a local constitutional amendment has not 
been adopted authorizing any of the following, shall have full and continuing power 
to do any of the following: 
 
  (3) Lend its credit to or grant public funds and things of value in 
aid of or to any individual, firm, corporation, or other business entity, public or 
private, for the purpose of promoting the economic and industrial development of the 
county or the municipality. 
 
 (c) Neither the county nor any municipality located therein shall lend its 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 4 
 
 

credit to or grant any public funds or thing of value to or in aid of any private entity 
under the authority of this amendment unless prior thereto both of the following are 
satisfied: 
 
  (1) The action proposed to be taken by the county or municipality 
is approved at a public meeting of the governing body of the county or municipality, 
as the case may be, by a resolution containing a determination by the governing body 
that the expenditure of public funds for the purpose specified will serve a valid and 
sufficient public purpose, notwithstanding any incidental benefit accruing to any 
private entity or entities. 
 
  (2) At least seven days prior to the public meeting, a notice is 
published in the newspaper having the largest circulation in the county or 
municipality, as the case may be, describing in reasonable detail the action proposed 
to be taken, a description of the public benefits sought to be achieved by the action, 
and identifying each individual, firm, corporation, or other business entity to whom 
or for whose benefit the county or the municipality proposes to lend its credit or 
grant public funds or thing of value. 
 
 For purposes of the foregoing, any sale, lease, or other disposition of property 
for a price equal to the fair market value thereof shall not constitute the lending of 
credit or a grant of public funds or thing of value in aid of a private entity.”; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Supreme Court of Alabama has held that predisposing an issue before it is 
heard and considered by the governing body can constitute a denial of due process (Chandler v. City 
of Lanett, 424 So.2d 1307 (1982); and City of Huntsville v. Biles, 489 So.2d 509 (1986)); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Alabama Open Meetings Act (“OMA”) set forth at Title 36-25A-1, et seq., 
Code of Alabama, 1975, requires that the deliberative process of conducting business by 
governmental bodies shall be open to the public during meetings and that no meeting may be held 
without providing notice as required by OMA; and 
 
 WHEREAS, based upon the legal authorities cited above, the City cannot act upon the 
request by Maddox unless and until the City has completed the process as required by Article IV 
§94.01 of the Constitution of Alabama (Amendment No. 772) at a public meeting in compliance 
with the Alabama Open Meetings Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Owner has heretofore made an oral request to the City to release a portion of 
the Property from the encumbrance from the lien; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council approved and adopted Ordinance Number 2902 on November 
25, 2019 agreeing to conduct a public hearing to consider the Owner’s request pursuant to the 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 5 
 
 
authority of Article IV §94.01 of the Constitution of Alabama if the Owner would first resurvey and 
replat the Property into two separate lots; provide the City with a copy of a Real Estate Sales 
Contract wherein a third party offers to purchase one of the lots and use it for retail commercial 
purposes; and to place a restrictive covenant on the Property that requires that businesses operating 
on said Property use a permanent building to do so; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Owner submitted to the City a Real Estate Sales Contract by and between 
Maddox Enterprises, LP, as Seller, and Waffle House, Inc., as Purchaser, dated August 6, 2019 and a 
First Amendment thereto dated October 31, 2019; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Owner had the Property resurveyed into two lots by a resurvey prepared by 
Engineering Design Group, LLC and dated December 4, 2019; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Property is now more particularly described as follows: 
 

“A Resurvey of Lot 1, according to the Motel Investors, Inc. Addition to Vestavia 
Hills, as recorded in Map Book 86, Page 14, in the Probate Office of Jefferson 
County, Alabama.  Purpose of this Resurvey is to take 1 lots into 2 lots. Situated in 
the Northwest ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 1, Township 19 South, Range 3 West, 
and the Southwest ¼ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 36, Township 18 South, Range 3 
West, Jefferson County, Alabama” (the “Property”); and 
 

 WHEREAS, the subdivision plat was filed in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson 
County, Alabama on _______________________ and recorded at _____________________; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement authorized by the City Council on November 25, 2019 with the 
enactment of Ordinance Number 2902 was signed by the City and Owner on December 13, 2019; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Owner, by letter dated December 18, 2019 to City Manager Jeff Downes, 
requested that the City Council convene a public meeting for the purpose of considering said 
Owner’s request; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council scheduled a public hearing at its regularly scheduled meeting 
on Monday, January 13, 2020, beginning at 6:00 p.m. to consider the Owner’s request; and  
 
 WHEREAS, a legal notice of said scheduled meeting was published in December 27, 2019 
edition of The Birmingham News as required by Article IV §94.0(c)(2) of the Constitution of 
Alabama; and 
 WHEREAS, the City is willing to grant public funds in the amount of Thirty-seven 
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($37,500.00) by reducing the amount of the lien described above 
for the purpose of promoting the economic development of the City; and 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 6 
 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City further finds and determines that the expenditure of public funds for 
the purposes specified herein will serve a valid and sufficient public purpose, notwithstanding any 
incidental benefit accruing to any private entity or entities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City further finds and determines that the grant of public funds as aforesaid 
will increase employment in the City and increase the tax and revenue base of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City further finds and determines that the business entities to whom or for 
whose benefit the City proposes to grant public funds ($37,500.00 reduction in the amount of the 
lien) or thing of value are the Owner and the entities that locate in the facilities established by the 
Owner. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants hereinafter 
contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, City and Owner hereby mutually covenant and agree as 
follows: 
 
I. RECITALS   
 
 The recitals set forth in the premises above are hereby incorporated into this Special 
Economic Development Agreement by reference as though set out fully herein. 
 
II. THE LIEN 
 
 The lien dated June 24, 2013 in favor of the City and against the Property owned by Maddox 
Enterprises, LP filed in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama on June 28, 
2013 and recorded at BK: LR201315, Pg. 16803 is hereby amended as follows: 
 
 A. The amount of the lien be and is hereby reduced from Seventy-five Thousand Dollars 
($75,000.00) to Thirty-seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($37,500.0); and 
 
 B. Lot 1-A as shown on the resurvey to be sold to Waffle House, Inc. be and is hereby 
released from the encumbrance of the lien; and 
 
 C. Lot 2-A as shown on the resurvey shall remain subject to the encumbrance of the lien 
in the amount of Thirty-seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($37,500.00). 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 7 
 
 
 D. Any and all other terms, provisions and conditions of Resolution Number 4463 
enacted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on June 24, 2013 (filed in the 
office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama on June 28, 2013 and recorded at BK: 
LR201315, p.16803) not amended herein are reconfirmed and ratified so that the same shall remain 
in full force and effect. 
 
III. RESTRICTIVE COVENANT 
 
 The Property, being Lot 1-A and Lot 2-A in the resurvey, shall be subject to the following 
perpetual restrictive covenant: 
 

 “All persons, firms, partnerships, corporations and other legal entities 
operating a business on the Property shall conduct said businesses in a permanent 
and stationary building as defined in the City of Vestavia Hills Zoning Code 
Ordinance Number 2331.  No temporary structure shall be used on the property for 
the operation of any business or other commercial enterprise.  This restrictive 
covenant shall be a covenant running with the land perpetually and shall be binding 
on the owners of the Property and all of their heirs, successors and assigns.” 

 
IV. EFFECTIVE DATE OF SPECIAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 This Special Economic Development Agreement is subject to and contingent upon the 
closing of the sale of Lot 1-A as shown on the resurvey by Maddox Enterprises, LP, as “Seller,” to 
Waffle House, Inc., as “Purchaser.”  This Special Economic Development Agreement shall have no 
legal force and effect unless and until Maddox Enterprises, LP executes and delivers a proper 
Warranty Deed conveying said Lot 1-A to Waffle House, Inc. and the said deed is filed for record in 
the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama.  If the sale is not closed and the 
deed is not executed, delivered and filed for record as aforesaid, then in such event this Special 
Economic Development Agreement shall automatically be cancelled, terminated, null, void and of 
no legal force and effect whatsoever. 
 
V.   MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 A. GOVERNING LAW:  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties 
hereto shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama.  The 
jurisdiction and venue for the resolution of any dispute shall be in Jefferson County, Alabama. 
 
 B. BINDING AGREEMENT:  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 8 
 
 
 C. NO WAIVER:  The failure of either party to exercise any rights under this Agreement 
shall not constitute a waiver of any right, nor excuse the other party’s full performance.  No express 
waiver of any matter shall affect any other matter under this Agreement.  Express waivers are only 
effective if in writing. 
 
 D. CONSTRUCTION OF TERMS:  Descriptive headings are for convenience only and shall 
not control or affect the meaning or construction of any provision.  Any ambiguities of this 
Agreement shall be construed fairly and equitably regardless of the participation of either party in 
drafting this Agreement.  The reference in terms to gender and number shall be modified as may be 
appropriate. 
 
 E. SEVERABILITY:  In case of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall for any 
reason be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction in any respect, 
the remaining provisions shall remain in effect and the Agreement be performed in a fair and 
equitable manner as to any uncertainties arising from the unenforceable provisions.   
 
 F. DATES:  If any date provided in this Agreement falls on a Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday, the date shall be the next business day. 
 
 G. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS:  This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in 
any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument. 
  
 H. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This written Agreement contains the entire agreement 
between the parties, incorporating all prior agreements, and may only be amended by approval of the 
City Council and in writing executed by both parties. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City and Owner have executed this Agreement to be executed 
as of the date first above written. 
 
       THE CITYOF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
      A Municipal Corporation 
  
      By _____________________________________ 
       Ashley C. Curry 
       Mayor 
 
      By _____________________________________ 
       Jeffrey D. Downes 
       City Manager 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 9 
 
 
ATTESTED: 
                  
By___________________________________ 
 
      MADDOX ENTERPRISES, LP 
 
      By _____________________________________ 
       Larry Maddox 
       Its President 
 
      By _____________________________________ 
       Its ______________________________ 
ATTESTED: 
                  
By___________________________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Larry Maddox, whose name as President of Maddox Enterprises, LP, is signed to the 
foregoing Special Economic Development Agreement, and who is known to me, acknowledged 
before me on this day that being informed of the contents of the Agreement, he in his capacity as 
such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for and as the act of said Maddox 
Enterprises, LP on the day the same bears date.  Given under my hand and official seal, this the 
_______ day of January, 2020. 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 10 
 
 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 
  

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that _____________________________________, whose name as ____________________ 
of Maddox Enterprises, LP, is signed to the foregoing Special Economic Development Agreement, 
and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of 
the Agreement, he/she in his/her capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same 
voluntarily for and as the act of said Maddox Enterprises, LP on the day the same bears date.  Given 
under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Ashley C. Curry, whose name as Mayor of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Special Economic Development Agreement, and 
who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of the 
Agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for and 
as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, on the day the same 
bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



Special Economic Development Agreement  
Page 11 
 
 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Jeffrey D. Downes, whose name as City Manager of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
a municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Special Economic Development Agreement, and 
who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of the 
Agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for and 
as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, on the day the same 
bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 

Exhibit 1 - Resolution No. 5216



RESOLUTION NUMBER 5217 
 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING A MEMBER TO THE JEFFERSON-
BLOUNT-ST. CLAIR MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY BOARD 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Dr. Bill Brunson is hereby appointed to serve on the Jefferson-Blount-St. Clair Mental 

Health Authority as representative of the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

2. This appointment shall become effective immediately upon adoption and approval and 

shall continue until the Mayor and Council amend this Resolution Number 5217; and 

3. This Resolution Number 5217 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 13th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry  
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



1

Rebecca Leavings

From: Ashley Curry
Sent: Wednesday, January 08, 2020 9:05 AM
To: Rusty Weaver; George Pierce; Kimberly Cook; Paul Head
Cc: Jeff Downes; Rebecca Leavings
Subject: Bill Brunson-Appointment to JBS Mental Health Authority

All, 
 
The city of Vestavia Hills supports the Jefferson‐Blount‐St. Clair Counties Mental Health Authority (JBSMHA).  This 
agency provides mental health services to individuals in the tri‐county area including 175 mentally ill individuals in 
Vestavia Hills.  Per Melvin Turner, we have supported this agency for the past 16 years and currently budget $7200 per 
year.  Because of our support, the city has representation on their board.  Mr. Bob Terry, a Vestavia Hills resident, has 
served on the board for the past six years.  Mr. Terry wholeheartedly supports this agency and our city’s participation, 
but after six years he is seeking other opportunities to serve the city.  He had been appointed by Mayor Zaragosa and 
confirmed by the City Council. 
 
Sophia Holloway, Executive Assistant, JBSMHA, has asked me to appoint a new Vestavia Hills representative.  Their 
board is comprised of professional counselors, parents of mentally ill individuals, and other professionals.  I have 
reached out to Dr. Bill Brunson, Senior Pastor at Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church and asked about his interest in 
this appointment.  Several months ago, he had asked about serving the city in some capacity.  This seems to be a good 
fit for him, especially in light of the family counseling and pastoral care that he provides to any number of families.  He is 
interested in serving and therefore, I will recommend him for this position. 
 
Per this email, I am asking Becky to place this item on the agenda for the Council Meeting of January 13th. 
 

 
 
ASHLEY C. CURRY 
Mayor 
P 205 978 0130 | vhal.org 
City of Vestavia Hills 

   
 

Exhibit - Resolution No. 5217



ORDINANCE NUMBER 2907 
 

AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING A REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR THE 
SALE OF CONCESSIONS TO PATRONS AT CITY RECREATIONAL 
FACILITIES AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY MANAGER 
TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER AN AGREEMENT WITH FH 
CONCESSION GROUP FOR THE SALE OF CONCESSIONS TO 
PATRONS AT CITY RECREATIONAL FACILITIES 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, accepts the proposal 

submitted by Frank Hernandez, FH Concession Group, for sale of concessions to 

patrons at City Recreational Facilities; and 

2. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute and deliver an 

agreement with FH Concession Group for the sale of concessions to patrons at City 

Recreational Facilities; and 

3. A copy of said proposal and agreement is marked as “Exhibit A” attached to and 

incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2907 as if written fully therein; and 

4. This Ordinance Number 2907 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 13th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings  
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2907



7 
 

 
17. Invalidation of this Agreement 

If any part of this agreement is rendered invalid for any reason, it shall not invalidate the 
remainder of the agreement, but the agreement shall remain in full force for the balance 
of the term. 

 
18. Effective Date of this Agreement 
  
This agreement will go into effect on                          . 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed by the parties hereto as of the 
date first above written. 
 
 
CONTRACTOR     City of Vestavia Hills 
 
By: ____________________     By: ____________________ 
 
 
Its: ____________________     Its: ____________________ 
 
 
       City of Vestavia Hills 
 
        By: ____________________ 
 
 
        Its: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
  



Ordinance No. 2905 
Page 1 

 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2905 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO APPROVE A CONTRACT TO PURCHASE THE 
REAL ESTATE AND IMPROVEMENTS SITUATED AT 3995-3103 
GREENDALE ROAD IN THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 0.34 ACRES, MORE OR LESS 
(“PROPERTY”) AND AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE MAYOR 
AND CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER SAID THE 
CONTRACT AND ANY AND ALL OTHER DOCUMENTS NECESSARY 
TO CLOSE THE SALE PURSUANT TO THE TERMS, PROVISIONS 
AND CONDITIONS OF SAID CONTRACT.   

 
THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2905 is approved and adopted by the City Council of 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has negotiated with the owner of the real estate and 

improvements situated at 3995-3103 Greendale Road in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

consisting of approximately 0.34± acres (the “Property”) for the possible purchase of said 

Property by the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (“City”); and 

 WHEREAS, if the City purchases the Property, then in such event the City Manager 

recommends that: 

 (1) Approximately 0.02± acres be used for an in progress public works project to 

widen Crosshaven Road (“project to widen Crosshaven Road”); and 

 (2) The balance of the Property be sold to another party; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Attorney has prepared an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real 

Estate (“Agreement”) setting forth the terms, provisions and conditions of the negotiations and 

recommendation by the City Manager for consideration by the City Council; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the Agreement is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit A and is 

incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2905 by reference as though set out fully herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Agreement attached hereto and marked as Exhibit A is incorporated in its 

entirety into this Ordinance Number 2905 by reference as though set out fully herein. 

2. The Agreement is hereby approved by the City Council. 



Ordinance No. 2905 
Page 2 

 
 
 3. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to execute and 

deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 4. The City Council hereby authorizes and directs the City Manager to execute any 

and all other documents necessary to close the purchase and sale of the Property pursuant to the 

terms, provisions and conditions of the Agreement attached hereto.  In addition, the City Manager 

is hereby authorized to make editorial revisions and corrections that do not substantially change 

said Agreement. 

5. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional 

or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the 

remainder of this ordinance, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such 

holding. 

6. This Ordinance Number 2905 shall become effective upon its approval, adoption, 

enactment and publication by posting as set forth in Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 1975.  

DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED on this the 27th day of January, 

2020. 

 
      CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 
 
      By __________________________________ 
       Ashley C. Curry 

Mayor 
ATTESTED BY 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance No. 2905 
Page 3 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance #2905 is a true and correct copy of such 
Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills on the 27th 
day of January, 2020 as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills New Merkle House, Vestavia 
Hills Civic Center and Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest this the 28th day of January, 2020. 
 
 
    
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 



STATE OF ALABAMA 

JEFFERSON COUNTY 

AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF REAL ESTATE 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF REAL ESTATE (“the 
Agreement”), is hereby made and entered into as of the ____ day of January, 2020 by and between 
Nonidez Properties, an Alabama General Partnership (hereinafter referred to as “Seller”), and the 
City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Purchaser”).   

WITNESS THESE RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Seller owns real estate and improvements situated at 3095-3103 Greendale 
Road in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, (hereinafter referred to as 
“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Property consists of approximately 0.34 acres ± (being approximately 
14,790 square feet) and is more particularly in that certain Deed dated September 30, 1982, which 
said Deed was filed in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama on 
September 30, 1982 and recorded at Real 2244, Page 906, described as follows: 

That part of the Southeast Quarter of Southeast Quarter (SE¼ of 
SE¼) of Section 15, Township 18, South, Range 2 West, bounded by 
and lying within the following described boundary lines, viz: Begin 
at the Northwest corner of said Southeast Quarter of Southeast 
Quarter of said Section and run thence Eastwardly along the North 
boundary line thereof for a distance of Seventy-five (75) feet; thence 
Southwardly and parallel with the West boundary of said Southeast 
Quarter of Southeast Quarter of said Section for a distance of One 
Hundred forty-five (145) feet; thence Westwardly and parallel with 
the North boundary of said Southeast Quarter of Southeast Quarter of 
said Section a distance of Seventy-five (75) feet to a point on the 
West boundary of said Southeast Quarter of Southeast Quarter of said 
Section; thence Northwardly along said West boundary of said 
Southeast Quarter of Southeast Quarter of said Section a distance of 
one hundred forty-five (145) feet to the point of beginning. 

WHEREAS, Seller derived title to the Property by virtue of that certain Deed dated 
September 30, 1982,which said deed was filed in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson 
County, Alabama on September 30, 1982 and recorded at Real 2244, Page 906; and 

WHEREAS, Purchaser (City) is actively engaged in a public works project to widen 
Crosshaven Road known as “Project to Widen Crosshaven Road” (hereinafter referred to as 
“Project”); and 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 2 
 
 

 

 WHEREAS, Purchaser needs to acquire a portion of Seller’s property in order to construct 
and complete the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the portion of Seller’s property needed by Purchaser for public access purposes 
shall hereinafter be referred to as “public access area”, and 
 
  (i) consists of approximately 0.02± acres (being approximately 909 square feet);  
 
  (ii) is shown on Exhibit 1, which is attached hereto and incorporated into this 
Agreement by reference as though set out fully herein;  
 
  (iii) is more particularly described in Exhibit 2, which is attached hereto and 
incorporated into this Agreement by reference as though set out fully herein. 
 
 WHEREAS, Purchaser has the legal authority to condemn and take the public access area 
under the power of eminent domain pursuant to the Alabama Eminent Domain Code set forth in 
Title 18-1A-1, et seq., Code of Alabama, 1975; and 
 
 WHEREAS, John E. Hall, III, MAI appraised the Property to have the following fair market 
values as of April 11, 2019: 
 
  Fair Market Value of the Property    $500,000.00 
  Fair Market Value less the public access area  $384,846.00 
  Fair Market Value of the public access area   $115,154.00; and 
 
 WHEREAS, W. Paulk Turner, MAI appraised the property and opined that the fair market 
value of the property was Four Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars ($420,000.00) as of April 7, 
2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, municipalities in Alabama have the legal authority to acquire real estate by 
purchase pursuant to Title 11-40-1, Code of Alabama, 1975; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council (“City Council”) of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (a 
municipal corporation (the “City”) hereby finds and determines that it prefers to purchase the 
Property pursuant to this Agreement rather than to condemn said Property and acquire it by eminent 
domain; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that the purchase by the City of the real 
estate and improvements for the property located at 3095-3103 Greendale Road hereinafter 
described in Section 3 will promote the health, safety and general welfare of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Ordinance Number 2905 will be introduced by a first reading at the 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 3 
 
 

 

regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council on January 13, 2020 and considered for approval by 
the City Council at its regularly scheduled meeting on January 27, 2020 pursuant to the procedure 
for adoption of an ordinance set forth at Title 11-45-2(b), Code of Alabama, 1975; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Alabama Open Meetings Act set forth at Title 36-25A-7(a)(7), Code of 
Alabama, 1975, provides that the material terms of a contract to purchase real property shall be 
disclosed in a public meeting prior to the execution of the contract; and 
 
 WHEREAS, only the City Council by the enactment of an ordinance or resolution can 
authorize and direct the execution and delivery of a contract for and on behalf of the municipality 
(Van Antwerp, et al v. Board of Commissions of City of Mobile, et al, 217 Ala. 201, 115 So. 239 
(1928); and Town of Boligee v. Greene County Water and Sewer Authority, 77 So.3d 1166 (2011)); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Title 11-47-5, Code of Alabama, 1975, reads as follows: 
 

 “Contracts entered into by a municipality shall be in writing, 
signed and executed in the name of the city or town by the officers 
authorized to make the same and by the party contracting.  In cases 
not otherwise directed by law or ordinance, such contracts shall be 
entered into and executed by the mayor in the name of the city or 
town and all obligations for the payment of money by the 
municipality, except for bonds and interest coupons, shall be attested 
by the clerk.  This section shall not be construed to cover purchases 
for ordinary needs of the municipality;” and 
 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43-21(b)(7), Code of Alabama, 1975, requires the City Manager to 
sign all lawful contracts on behalf of the municipality and reads as follows: 
 

 “(b) The City Manager shall have the power and it shall be 
his duty:... 
  (7) To make and execute all lawful contracts on 
behalf of the municipality as to matters within the jurisdiction; 
provided, that no contract, purchase or obligation involving more 
than $100.00 shall be binding until after the approval by the 
governing body.”; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the City will own and keep title to the public access area depicted on Exhibit 1 
and more particularly described in Exhibit 2 and use said public access area for the construction and 
completion of the Project; and 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 4 
 
 

 

 WHEREAS, municipalities in Alabama cannot engage in private enterprise (Edmonson v. 
State Indus. Dev. Auth., 279 Ala. 206, 184 So.2d 115; Board of Rev. & Road v. Puckett, 227 Ala. 
374; Opinion of Justices No. 269, 384 So.2d 1051; and Opinion of Justices No. 261, 373 So.2d 290); 
and 
 

 WHEREAS, Alabama law at Title 11-43-56, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City 
Council shall have the management and control of the finances and all of the property, real and 
personal, belonging to the City; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Title 11-47-20, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City Council may, by 
ordinance to be entered on its minutes, direct the disposal of any real property not needed for public 
or municipal purposes and direct the mayor to make title thereto, and a conveyance made by the 
mayor in accordance with such ordinance invests the grantee with the title of the municipality; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills City Council hereby finds and determines that the balance of 
the Property (after carving out the public access area) is not needed for public purposes and that the 
said balance of Property shall be sold at a later date, which said balance of property is shown on 
Exhibit 3 and more particularly described in Exhibit 4, which said Exhibits are attached hereto and 
incorporated into this Agreement by reference as though set out fully herein. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants hereinafter 
contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, Seller and Purchaser hereby mutually covenant and 
agree as follows: 
 
 1. RECITALS:  The recitals set forth in the premises above are hereby incorporated 
into this Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate (“Agreement”) by reference as though set 
out fully herein. 
 
 2. PURCHASE AND SALE.  For and in consideration of One and No/100 Dollars 
($1.00) in hand paid by Purchaser to Seller and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by Seller, Seller agrees to sell and Purchaser 
agrees to purchase all (and not less than all) of the Property for the Purchase Price (as defined 
below) and on the terms, provisions and conditions hereinafter set forth. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 5 
 
 

 

 
 3. PROPERTY.  The Property is situated at 3095-3103 Glendale Road in the City of 
Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama.  The legal description of the Property to be conveyed by 
Seller to Purchaser has been determined by the survey as required by and described in Section 8 of 
this Agreement. 
 
 The Property is shown on the Survey prepared by Gonzalez-Strength & Associates, Inc., 
which is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit 5 and incorporated into this Agreement by reference as 
though set out fully herein.  The legal description of the Property as shown on said Survey is set 
forth on Exhibit 6, which is attached hereto and incorporated into this Agreement by reference as 
though set out fully herein. 
 
 4. PURCHASE PRICE.  The purchase price for all of the Property shall be Four 
Hundred Forty Thousand Dollars ($440,000.00) (the “Purchase Price”).   
 
 5. PAYMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE.  The payment of the Purchase Price shall be 
paid by the Purchaser to the Seller as follows: 
 
  A. EARNEST MONEY (“THE EARNEST MONEY”):  Earnest Money in the amount 
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) shall be paid by Purchaser concurrently with the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement.  The Earnest Money shall be paid to Land Title Company of 
Alabama, Inc. (“title company”), 600 – 20th Street North in the City of Birmingham, Alabama 
35203. The title company shall deposit said earnest money in an interest-bearing account and pay the 
same to the Seller at closing.  If Purchaser terminates the Purchase Agreement during the Inspection 
Period or for failure of any of the contingencies listed below to be satisfied prior to the Closing, the 
Earnest Money will be returned to Purchaser in full. 
 
  B. CASH ON CLOSING THIS SALE:  The entire remaining balance of the Purchase 
Price in the amount of Four Hundred Thirty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($430,000.00) shall be 
paid to Seller by Purchaser in cash or immediately available funds at closing.   
 
 6. CLOSING AND CLOSING DATE.   Subject to the terms, provisions and 
conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the sale and purchase of the Property (the “Closing”) 
shall occur on or before the date that is fifteen (15) days after the expiration of the Inspection Period 
or earlier at Purchaser’s election, as hereinafter defined (the “Closing Date”). 
 
 7. CONVEYANCE.   Seller agrees to convey the Property to Purchaser by statutory 
warranty deed (the “Deed”) at the Closing, subject to the Permitted Exceptions (as herein defined). 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 6 
 
 

 

 
 
 8. SURVEY.   Purchaser selected Gonzalez-Strength & Associates, Inc. (“Surveyor”) to 
prepare the legal description of the Property to be conveyed prior to the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement.  The Surveyor completed the Survey on October 2, 2019 and delivered copies to 
Seller and Purchaser.  The Surveyor prepared Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 as follows: 
 
     Exhibit No.                Description 
 
  6  Legal description of Property to be conveyed by Seller to Purchaser. 
 
  5  Boundary Survey of Property to be conveyed by Seller to Purchaser. 
 
  1  Boundary Survey of public access area to be used by the Purchaser in 
    the “Project to Widen Crosshaven Road.” 
 
  2  Legal description of public access area to be used by the Purchaser in 
    the “Project to Widen Crosshaven Road.” 
 
  3  Boundary Survey of the balance of the Property (Property less and  
    except the public access area to be sold to a third party). 
 
  4  Legal description of the balance of the Property (Property less and  
    except the public access area to be sold to a third party). 
 
 Both Seller and Purchaser accept and approve the Survey prepared by Surveyor. 
 
 9. TITLE INSURANCE.   Seller shall, within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, 
secure a title commitment (the “Title Commitment”) naming Purchaser as the proposed insured on a 
Chicago Title Insurance Company Standard Form Owners Policy issued by Land Title Company of 
Alabama, Inc. as agent for Chicago Title Insurance Company (the “Title Agent”) for the Property 
described in Section 3 (Exhibit 6) hereof in the amount of the Purchase Price (the “Title Policy”) 
subject to the following permitted exceptions (a) easements, covenants and other encumbrances of 
record, (b) mineral and mining rights not owned by Seller, (c) matters that would be disclosed by a 
current survey of the Property.  Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the 
Property to be conveyed at closing shall be free and clear of any mortgage indebtedness or other 
liens. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 7 
 
 

 

 10. INSPECTIONS:  Purchaser, or Purchaser’s representatives, shall have the right to 
enter the Property for the purpose of inspection of the same, and/or making boundary line and 
topographical surveys of the same, and/or making soil tests thereon, and/or in general observing and 
investigating the condition of the Property.  Purchaser agrees to indemnify Seller from and against 
any liability that results from Purchaser performing any of its inspections as provided herein, and 
such indemnity shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 
 
 11. INSPECTION PERIOD:  Purchaser shall have a period of one hundred twenty 
(120) days following the effective date of this Agreement (“Inspection Period”) to determine, either 
personally or through or with a representative of Purchaser’s choosing, any and all conditions of the 
Property (including without limitation the condition of all improvements thereon) material to 
Purchaser’s decision to purchase the Property.  The determination shall include, without limitation, 
Purchaser satisfying itself as to title matters, soil testing, survey matters, structural matters, zoning 
matters, subdivision regulations, engineering and site planning, environmental matters, specifically 
including, but not limited to Phase I ESA, existing contracts and financial matters affecting the 
Property, all soil, landscaping and other physical conditions of the Property, availability and 
sufficient quantities of all utilities, and all additional matters that Purchaser believes relevant, in its 
sole and absolute discretion, in determining whether or not to purchase the Property.  Purchaser, at 
Purchaser’s sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, shall have the right and option to cancel this 
Agreement by giving written notice of termination to Seller no later than the last day of the 
Inspection Period, in which the right and option to cancel this Agreement by giving written notice of 
termination to Seller no later than the last day of the Inspection Period, in which event this 
Agreement shall be of no further force or affect except for any indemnity or other obligations that 
expressly survive, and the Earnest Money shall be refunded to Purchaser.  If Purchaser cancels and 
terminates this Agreement prior to the expiration of the Inspection Period, then in such event the 
Earnest Money (held in escrow by the Title Company) shall be refunded by the Seller to Purchaser 
in full and this Agreement shall be cancelled, null and void. 
 
 12. ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS:  Seller has no actual knowledge that the 
Property has in the past been used or is presently used for the handling, storage, manufacturing, 
refining, transportation or disposal of “toxic material”, “hazardous substances” or “hazardous 
waste”.  The terms “hazardous waste”, “hazardous substances” and “toxic material” include, without 
limitation, any flammable explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous materials, hazardous wastes, 
hazardous or toxic substances or related materials defined in the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 USC §960, et seq.), the 
Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (42 USC §1801, et seq.), the Resource 
Conversation and Recovery Act, as amended (42 USC §9601, et seq.), the regulations adopted and 
publications promulgated pursuant to the foregoing and any other federal, state or local 
environmental law, ordinance, rule or regulation.  Furthermore, Seller has not received a summons, 
citation, directive, letter or other communication, written or oral, from any governmental authority as 
to any of the above environmental concerns.   
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 8 
 
 

 

 13. CONDITION OF PROPERTY:  Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that: 
 
  A. Seller has not made and does not make any covenant, representation of 
warranty, either expressed or implied, regarding the physical condition of the Property or any 
portion thereof, the suitability of the Property for any particular purpose or use whatsoever, utility 
availability for the Property, whether the Property is subject to surface or subsurface contamination 
by toxic or hazardous waste or with respect to any other matters affecting the Property or 
Purchaser’s contemplated use thereof; 
 
  B. Purchaser has been given the absolute and unfettered right during the 
Inspection Period to conduct such Inspections of the Property as Purchaser, in its sole discretion, 
may determine necessary in order to satisfy itself of all conditions and other aspects of the Property; 
and 
 
  C. Purchaser has available to it such resources, expertise, consultants and 
advisors so that it can make a sound and reasonable judgment as to the condition of the Property as 
well as to all economic conditions, suitability requirements and all other matters affecting the use, 
development and ownership of the Property.  Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the Property is 
to be sold and conveyed to, and accepted by, Purchaser in its present condition, “AS IS, WHERE IS 
AND WITH ALL FAULTS,” and Purchaser hereby assumes the risk that adverse physical 
characteristics and existing conditions may have not been revealed by the Inspections. 
 
 14. EXISTING DOCUMENTS, SURVEY AND TITLE INSURANCE:  Within ten 
(10) days following the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Seller agrees to provide Purchaser, at 
Seller’s expense, and no later than 5:00 p.m. (Birmingham, Alabama time) on said date copies of all 
existing surveys, existing title insurance policies, existing environmental reports, and other 
documentation in any way relating to the Property that are in the possession of the Seller or the 
Seller’s agents.  The documents shall also include, but not be limited to, the following: 
 
  A. Rent roll. 
 
  B. Description of items tenant pays for and what owner pays for. 
 
  C. Copies of leases. 
 
  D. List of tenant deposits, if any, that owner may be liable to return. 
 
  E. Utility deposits. 
 
  F. Any capital improvements and significant repairs. 
 
  G. Age of roof, HVAC equipment, appliances. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 9 
 
 

 

 
  H. Copies of all contracts and service agreements: not limited to dumpster, 
landscaping, property management and cable/internet.  A representation that no other binding 
contracts/agreements exist that have not been provided. 
 
  I. Prior three (3) years income statement and balance sheet, including year to 
date financials. 
 
  J. List of any property policies and rules. 
 
  K. Any parking agreements with tenants. 
 
  L. Property tax assessments and notices. 
 
  M. Certificate of insurance and five year loss runs. 
 
  N. Representation language in contract that there are no pending lawsuits. 
 
  O. Copy of any existing surveys. 
 
  P. Representation that all owner liabilities, including mortgages, if any, will be 
satisfied on or before closing.   
 
 15. CLOSING COSTS:  The Closing shall be held at the Vestavia Hills Municipal 
Center located at 1032 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  The closing attorney shall 
be Patrick H. Boone. 
 
  A. CLOSING COSTS FOR SELLER:  The Seller shall pay the following costs: 
 
   (1) Title insurance premium. 
   (2) Legal fee to Seller’s attorney, if any. 
 
  B. CLOSING COSTS FOR PURCHASER:  The Purchaser shall pay the following 
closing costs: 
   (1) The fee for recording the deed, if any. 
   (2) Legal fee to Purchaser’s attorney. 
   (3) Cost of due diligence during Inspection Period. 
   (4) Financing costs, if any. 
   (5) Cost of surveying the Property. 
 
 16. TAXES:  The ad valorem taxes shall be prorated as of the date of closing. 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 10 
 
 

 

 17. ASSIGNMENT:  Purchaser may assign this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder 
without the express written consent of Seller.   
 
 18. POSSESSION:  Possession of the Property shall be given on the Closing Date. 
 
 19. BROKER:  None. 
 
  A. PURCHASER:  The Purchaser is not represented in this contemplated 
transaction by any real estate broker/agent. 
 
  B. SELLER:  The Seller is not represented in this contemplated transaction by any 
real estate broker/agent. 
 
 20. NOTICES:  All notices and demands to be given or made hereunder shall be in 
writing and shall be given by (i) personal or hand delivery, (ii) nationally recognized express 
overnight delivery service (with charges therefor prepaid, or (iii) certified or registered mail, return 
receipt requested (with postage therefor prepaid).  Notices shall be deemed received upon (a) receipt, 
if hand or personally delivered, (b) the next business day after the notice has been deposited with a 
nationally recognized express overnight delivery service, or (the third business day after the notice 
has been deposited with the United States Postal Service.  Notices shall be provided to the parties at 
the follow addresses: 
 

IF TO SELLER:   Bill Nonidez 
    Nonidez Properties 
    c/o Terry Gloor, Esq. 
    200 Century Park South, Suite 114 
    Birmingham, Alabama  35226 
    Telephone No. (205) 913-3567 
    E-mail:  tgloor@gloorlawfirm.com  
 
 
 
IF TO PURCHASER:  Jeffrey D. Downes, City Manager 
    Vestavia Hills Municipal Center 
    1032 Montgomery Highway 
    Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216 
    Telephone No.  205-978-0195 
    E-Mail:  jdownes@vhal.org  

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 11 
 
 

 

 
With copies to:  Patrick H. Boone 
    215 Richard Arrington Jr., Blvd. N., Suite 705  
    Birmingham, Alabama 35203-3720 
    Telephone No. (205) 324-2018 
    Fax (205) 324-2295 
    Email:  patrickboone@bellsouth.net 
 
IF TO TITLE COMPANY: Land Title Company of Alabama 
    600 North 20th Street, Suite 100 
    Birmingham, Alabama 35203 
    Attention:  William F. Miller 
    Telephone No. (205) 251-9280 
    Fax:  (205) 226-9280 
    Email:  wfm@land-title.net  

 
 Either party hereto may change the address to which it is to receive notice or the 
representative to whom notice is to be given by written notice to the other part in the manner set 
forth above. 
 
 21. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES: 
 
  A. In the event that Seller shall fail to consummate the transaction as 
contemplated herein for any reason other than Purchaser’s default, then Purchaser may, as its sole 
and exclusive remedy, either (i) enforce this Agreement and the purchase and sale transaction 
contemplated herein by specific performance or (ii) terminate this Agreement, whereupon the 
Earnest Money paid to Seller and accrued interest shall be promptly returned to Purchaser, this 
Agreement shall be deemed cancelled and terminated and, except for the indemnification obligations 
of Purchaser set forth in Section 11 above, neither party shall have any further obligation or liability 
to the other hereunder.   
 
  B. If, at any time after the expiration of the Inspection Period, Purchaser shall fail 
to perform its obligation to close the transaction contemplated herein for any reason other than 
Seller’s default, then the Earnest Money shall be delivered to Seller as liquidated damages in which 
event this Agreement shall automatically be deemed terminated and cancelled and, except for the 
indemnification obligations of Purchaser set forth in Section 11 above, neither party shall have any 
further obligation or liability to the other hereunder.  Because of the difficulty, inconvenience and 
uncertainty of ascertaining actual damages, no other damages, rights or remedies shall in any case be 
collectible, enforceable or available to Seller and Seller agrees to accept and retain the Earnest 
Money as its total damages and relief hereunder in the event Purchaser fails to close the purchase 
and sale transaction contemplated herein. 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 12 
 
 

 

 22. EFFECTIVE DATE:  The “Effective Date” to be inserted on the first page of this 
Agreement is the date upon which this Agreement has been fully executed by Seller and Purchaser 
and each of Seller and Purchaser has received a fully executed original counterpart.  The last party 
executing this Agreement will deliver a fully executed original counterpart to the other party by 
overnight delivery for receipt on the next succeeding business day and will insert the next 
succeeding business day on the first page of all original counterparts of this Agreement. 
 
 23. CONTINGENCIES:  This Agreement is subject to and contingent upon the 
following conditions: 
 
  A. AGREEMENT:  This Agreement is subject to and contingent upon the formal 
approval of the Agreement by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama by duly 
enacted ordinance pursuant to and in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama.  If this 
condition of approval as aforesaid is not completed, then in such event this Agreement shall 
automatically be terminated and any and all accrued interest shall be refunded to Purchaser. 
 
  B. CLOSING OF SALE:  This closing of the sale contemplated by this Agreement 
is subject to and contingent upon the following conditions: 
 
   1. The execution and delivery of an Agreement for Sale and Purchase of 
Real Estate by and between the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as “Seller,” and a Third Party, as 
“Purchaser,” wherein the Seller agrees to sell and the Purchaser agrees to buy, the property less and 
except the public access area for and in consideration of Three Hundred Four Thousand Eight 
Hundred Forty-six Dollars ($304,846.00) calculated pursuant to the following formula:  
 
    Property  less Public Access Area  =   Purchase Price 
    $420,000.00 - $115,154.00  = $304,846.00 
 
   2. The Agreement referred to in Section 23-B(1) above must be:  
 
    (i)  legally binding upon Purchaser;  
 
    (ii)  with no chance of Purchaser failing to close; and 
 
    (iii) the sale closed simultaneously with the City and Nonidez 
Properties sale (back-to-back). 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 13 
 
 

 

 If the City (as Purchaser herein) fails to close the resale of this Property to a third party 
pursuant to the contingencies set forth in Section 23 above, then in such event the earnest money 
shall be refunded to said City (as Purchaser) and this Agreement shall become null, void, cancelled, 
terminated and of no legal force and effect. 
 
 24. ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF LEASES AND RENTS:  Seller, shall at 
closing, execute legal documents necessary to assign and transfer to the City of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama (Purchaser herein) all of Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the leases of tenants 
presently occupying the Greendale Apartment building, together with related rents and security 
deposits. 
 
 25. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
  A. GOVERNING LAW:  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the 
parties hereto shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Alabama.  The jurisdiction and venue for the resolution of any dispute shall be in Jefferson County, 
Alabama. 
 
  B. BINDING AGREEMENT:  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 
 
  C. SURVIVAL:  All representations and warranties of this Agreement shall 
survive the Closing, as shall any covenants for performance after Closing. 
 
  D. TIME OF THE ESSENCE:  Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 
 
  E. NO WAIVER:  The failure of either party to exercise any rights under this 
Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of any right, nor excuse the other party’s full performance.  
No express waiver of any matter shall affect any other matter under this Agreement.  Express 
waivers are only effective if in writing. 
 
  F. CONSTRUCTION OF TERMS:  Descriptive headings are for convenience only 
and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of any provision.  Any ambiguities of this 
Agreement shall be construed fairly and equitably regardless of the participation of either party in 
drafting this Agreement.  The reference in terms to gender and number shall be modified as may be 
appropriate. 
 
  G. SEVERABILITY:  In case of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall for 
any reason be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction in any 
respect, the remaining provisions shall remain in effect and the Agreement be performed in a fair 
and equitable manner as to any uncertainties arising from the unenforceable provisions.   
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 14 
 
 

 

  H. DATES:  If any date provided in this Agreement falls on a Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday, the date shall be the next business day. 
 
  I. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS:  This Agreement may be executed 
simultaneously in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which 
shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
  J. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This written Agreement contains the entire agreement 
between the parties, incorporating all prior agreements, and may only be amended in writing 
executed by both parties. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Seller and Purchaser have executed this Agreement to be 
executed as of the date first above written. 
 
SELLER:     NONIDEZ PROPERTIES 
      An Alabama General Partnership 
 
      By _____________________________________ 
       William K. Nonidez 
       Its Managing Partner 
 
 
 
PURCHASER:      THE CITYOF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
      A Municipal Corporation 
  
      By _____________________________________ 
       Ashley C. Curry 
       Mayor 
 
      By _____________________________________ 
       Jeffrey D. Downes 
       City Manager 
ATTESTED: 
                  
 
By___________________________________ 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 15 
 
 

 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that William K. Nonidez, whose name as Managing Partner of Nonidez Properties, an 
Alabama General Partnership, is signed to the foregoing Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real 
Estate, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the 
contents of the Agreement, he/she in his/her capacity as such and with full authority, executed the 
same voluntarily for and as the act of said Nonidez Properties on the day the same bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Ashley C. Curry, whose name as Mayor of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate, 
and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of 
the Agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for 
and as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, on the day the same 
bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 16 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Jeffrey D. Downes, whose name as City Manager of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
a municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate, 
and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of 
the Agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for 
and as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, on the day the same 
bears date. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 

__________________________________________ 
Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905















Ordinance Number 2906 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2906 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS B-
2, INST AND A TO VESTAVIA HILLS B-1.2 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills B-2 (general 

business district), Inst (institutional district) and A (agricultural district) to Vestavia Hills 

B-1.2 (neighborhood mixed use district):  

3122, 3128, 3134, and 3136 Sunview Drive 
Thomas Holdings, Owners 

 
Real property in the City of Vestavia Hills, County of Jefferson, State of 
Alabama, described as follows:  
 
Parcel I:  Commence at the Southwest corner of the NE 1/4 of the SW 1/4 
of the SE 1/4 of Section 15, Township 18 South Range 2 West, Jefferson 
County, Alabama and run Southerly a distance of 62.40 feet, thence 
117"07'32" to the right and run Northwesterly a distance of 35.25 feet to the 
point of beginning, thence 62"28'34" to the right and run Northerly a 
distance of 45.56 feet, thence 88"30' to the left and run Westerly a distance 
of 92.84 feet, thence 42"29' to the left and run Southwesterly a distance of 
32.36 feet, thence 27"46' to the left and run Southwesterly distance of 32.00 
feet, thence 22"24' to the right and run Southwesterly a distance of 4.53 feet 
to the Northeasterly right of way of Sunview Drive, thence 75"32'15" to the 
left and run Southeasterly along the Northeasterly right of way of Sunview 
Drive a distance of 71.55 feet; thence 4"16'57.5" to the left and run 
Southeasterly along chord of a curve to the left, having a chord distance of 
49.46 feet, a delta angle of 8"33'55", an arc distance 49.50 feet and a radius 
of 331.15 feet: thence 12"01 '22.5" to the left and run Southeasterly along 
the Northeasterly right of way of Sunview Drive a distance of 29. 18 feet; 
thence 132"09'53" to the left and run Northerly a distance of 149.48 feet; 
thence 117"52'54" to the right and run Southeasterly a distance of 49.79 feet 
to the point of beginning.  
 
Parcel II:  A port of land in the SW 1/4 of the SW 1/4 of SE 1/4, Section 15, 
Township 18 South, Range 2 West being more particularly described as 



Ordinance Number 2906 
Page 2 

follows: Commence at the NE corner of SW 1 / 4 of SW 1 / 4 of SE 1 / 4, 
Section 15, Township 18 South, Range 2 West, thence South 62.4 feet for 
a point beginning thence 117"07' right 85 feet; thence 117"0 left 150 feet to 
the right of public road; thence 117"07' left 85 feet along the said right of 
way; thence 117"07' 150 feet point of beginning.  
 
Parcel III:  The South portion of a 20 foot right-of-way of 2nd Avenue 
located in Block 2 of the map according to Glass's Second Addition to New 
Merkle, as recorded in Map Book 28, Page 51, in the office of the Judge of 
Probate, Jefferson County, Alabama, extending from the right-of-way of 
Sunview Drive (Sunset Drive as per map) for a distance of 150 feet along 
the west side of 2nd Avenue and extending from the right-of-way of 
Sunview Drive (Sunset Drive as per map, for a distance of 162. 79 feet along 
the east side of 2nd Avenue.)  All of said property being situated in the SW 
1/4 of the SE 1/4 of Section 15, Township 18 South, Range 2 West, 
Jefferson County, Alabama.  
 
Parcel IV:  Lots 11, 12 & 13, Block 2, according to the Survey of Glass's 
Addition to New Merkle, as recorded in Map Book 28, page 51, in the 
Probate Office of Jefferson County, Alabama, Birmingham Division.. 

 
APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2906 
Page 3 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2906 is a true and correct 
copy of such 27th day of January, 2020, as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 

 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2906 
Page 4 

 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     DECEMBER 12, 2019

CASE: P-1219-65

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Vestavia Hills Inst-1, Vestavia Hills A, 
Vestavia Hills B-2 to Vestavia Hills B-1.2

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3122, 3128, 3134, 3136 Sunview Dr.

APPLICANT/OWNER: Thomas Holdings; Adam Hudson, rep.

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Applicant is seeking to rezone 3122, 3128, 3134, 3136 
Sunview Dr. from Inst-1, Vestavia Hills A, Vestavia Hills B-2 to Vestavia Hills B-1.2
for a salon. The applicant would build a 3,000 sq. ft. building and a 13 lot parking lot.
The building would have a front setback of 13’. Additionally, the applicant will 
construct intersection improvements and build 14 angled on-street parking spaces in 
accordance with the regulations for B-1.2 zoning. The proposed site plan, landscaping 
plan, and rendering and covenants are attached.

CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN: The request is consistent with the 
plan for limited mixed use.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning /
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application,
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues
with this request.

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no
issues with this request.

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues
with this request.



2

MOTION Mr. Larson made a motion to recommend Rezoning from Vestavia Hills Inst-1, 
Vestavia Hills A, Vestavia Hills B-2 to Vestavia Hills B-1.2 for the property located At 3122, 
3128, 3134, 3136 Sunview Dr. Second was by Ms. Weaver. Motion was carried on a roll call; 
vote as follows:

Mr. Vercher – yes Mr. Farrell – yes
Mr. Sykes– yes Mr. Larson – yes
Mr. Weaver – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Motion carried.































































































8'
 W

id
e 

C
on

cr
et

e
S

id
ew

al
k

8'
 W

id
e 

C
on

cr
et

e
S

id
ew

al
k

P
ro

po
se

d 
B

ui
ld

in
g

3,
00

0 
s.

f.±
F

F
E

:6
37

.8
2

R
25

.0
0

P
ro

vi
de

 H
C

 P
ar

ki
ng

si
gn

 p
er

 A
D

A
 s

pe
cs

P
ro

vi
de

 In
lin

e 
H

C
ra

m
p 

pe
r 

A
D

A
 s

pe
cs

A
sp

ha
lt 

P
av

em
en

t

A
sp

ha
lt 

P
av

em
en

t

A
sp

ha
lt 

P
av

em
en

t

P
ro

po
se

d 
E

as
em

en
t

fo
r 

si
de

w
al

k 
an

d 
pa

rk
in

g
(v

ar
ia

bl
e 

w
id

th
)

P
ro

vi
de

 H
C

 R
am

p 
pe

r
A

D
A

 s
pe

ci
fic

at
io

ns

19
.0

0

24
.0

0

25
.0

0

9.
00

13
.0

0

13
.0

0

14
.3

2

16
.0

0

R
ev

is
io

ns
:

S
he

et
 T

itl
e:

D
at

e:

S
ca

le
:

D
ra

w
in

g:D
ec

em
be

r 
5,

 2
01

9

F
ile

:
19

-1
20

5-
01

E
ng

in
ee

r

1"
=

20
'

C
-1

.0

S
ite

P
la

n





























































































P
ro

po
se

d 
B

ui
ld

in
g

3,
00

0 
s.

f.±
F

F
E

:6
37

.8
2

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
at

 e
nd

 o
f e

x.
 p

ip
e

F
L:

62
8.

84

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
at

 e
nd

 o
f e

x.
 p

ip
e

R
im

:6
36

.3
0

F
L:

63
3.

78

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
R

im
:6

37
.4

7
F

L:
63

4.
66

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
at

 e
nd

 o
f e

x.
 p

ip
e

R
im

:6
37

.3
5

F
L:

63
5.

26

62
 L

F
 1

8"
 E

q.
 A

rc
h 

P
ip

e
@

 4
.7

5%
 G

ra
de

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
at

 e
nd

 o
f e

x.
 p

ip
e

R
im

:6
33

.6
3

F
L:

63
1.

79

76
 L

F
 1

8"
 E

q.
 A

rc
h 

P
ip

e
@

 1
.1

5%
 G

ra
de

52
 L

F
 1

8"
 E

q.
 A

rc
h 

P
ip

e
@

 1
.1

5%
 G

ra
de

15
 L

F
 6

" 
S

ch
40

 P
V

C
pi

pe
 @

 1
.0

0%
 G

ra
de

R
ip

 R
ap

 O
ve

rf
lo

w
W

ei
r;

 E
le

v:
63

3.
50

R
ev

is
io

ns
:

S
he

et
 T

itl
e:

D
at

e:

S
ca

le
:

D
ra

w
in

g:D
ec

em
be

r 
5,

 2
01

9

F
ile

:
19

-1
20

5-
01

E
ng

in
ee

r

1"
=

20
'

C
-2

.0

G
ra

di
ng

&
 D

ra
in

ag
e

P
la

n

Si
te

 S
to

rm
 W

at
er

 D
ra

in
ag

e:
P

re
-d

ev
el

op
m

en
t s

ite
 c

on
di

tio
ns

 a
re

 a
 v

eg
et

at
ed

 lo
t c

on
si

st
in

g 
of

 tr
ee

s,
 g

ra
ss

 a
nd

 w
ee

ds
. T

he
 lo

t c
ur

re
nt

ly
dr

ai
ns

 to
 th

e 
no

rt
h 

to
 th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
dr

ai
na

ge
 s

w
al

e.
   

S
to

rm
 w

at
er

 fr
om

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 s
ite

 w
ill

 r
et

ai
n 

ex
is

tin
g

dr
ai

na
ge

 p
at

te
rn

s.

P
re

-d
ev

el
op

m
en

t P
ea

k 
D

is
ch

ar
ge

 o
f d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
re

a:
D

A
: 0

.4
7 

A
C

N
 V

al
ue

: 6
1

Q
(2

5)
: 1

.3
 c

fs

P
os

t d
ev

el
op

m
en

t P
ea

k 
D

is
ch

ar
ge

 o
f d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
re

a:
D

A
: 0

.4
7 

A
W

ei
gh

te
d 

C
N

 V
al

ue
: 8

1
Q

(2
5)

: 1
.0

 c
fs

T
he

re
 w

ill
 b

e 
no

 a
dv

er
se

 a
ffe

ct
 to

 a
ny

 u
ps

tr
ea

m
 o

r 
do

w
ns

tr
ea

m
 p

ro
pe

rt
ie

s 
or

 th
e 

ad
ja

ce
nt

 r
ig

ht
 o

f w
ay

s.

A
ll 

dr
ai

na
ge

 p
ip

e 
an

d 
st

ru
ct

ur
es

 a
nd

 a
ll 

st
or

m
w

at
er

 c
on

ve
ya

nc
e 

sy
st

em
 o

n 
pr

iv
at

e
pr

op
er

ty
 is

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 r
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 o

f p
ro

pe
rt

y 
ow

ne
r.

C
ity

 o
f V

es
ta

vi
a 

H
ill

s 
do

es
 n

ot
 in

he
rit

 m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

.

2:
1 

S
lo

pe

2.
0'

M
in

.

15
 L

F
 6

" 
S

ch
40

 P
V

C
 @

 1
.0

0%
B

ot
to

m
 o

f P
on

d:
 6

32
.0

0

D
am

In
ve

rt
E

le
v.

  6
32

.0
0

T
op

 o
f D

am
E

le
v.

63
4.

00

12
"

   
 1

8"
T

op
 o

f D
am

 E
l. 

63
4.

00

R
ip

 R
ap

O
ve

rf
lo

w
 W

ei
r 

E
l. 

63
3.

50

X
-S

ec
tio

n 
of

 O
ve

rf
lo

w
 W

ei
r

n.
t.s

.

4

B
ot

to
m

 o
f P

on
d:

 6
32

.0
0

2'
 x

 2
' c

on
cr

et
e 

sl
ab

at
 e

nd
 o

f p
ip

e

O
ve

rf
lo

w
 W

ei
r

E
le

v.
 6

33
.5

0

D
et

en
tio

n 
P

on
d 

O
ut

le
t P

ip
e

n.
t.s

.



RE
LE

A
SE

S 
/ 

D
ES

C
RI

PT
IO

N
 /

 D
A

TE
S

N
O

T 
FO

R 
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
RE

LE
A

SE
D

 F
O

R 
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N

D
A

TE

D
RA

W
N

C
HE

C
KE

D

A
PP

RO
V

ED

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

UM
BE

R

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE

D
RA

W
IN

G
 N

O
.

H+
HA

d
es

ig
n

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

pl
an

ni
ng

in
te

rio
r

.

A New Building for:

Birmingham Alabama EN
H

M
J,

 E
HR

.
.1

9

21
26

 M
or

ris
 A

ve
nu

e
B i

rm
in

gh
am

, A
L 

35
20

3
Ph

on
e 

  (
20

5)
 3

22
-1

75
1

Fa
x 

   
   

 (2
05

) 3
22

-1
77

8
em

ai
l  

   
in

fo
@

hp
lu

sh
a.

co
m

w
w

w
.h

pl
us

ha
.c

om

no
eh

n d
P,stce

cra
ih
t

uh
ietsekc
CPPn

 SALON

EX
TE

RI
O

R 
EL

EV
A

TIO
N

S A
2.

1





O
O

R
PL

A
N

FL
O

V
ES

TA
V

IA
, A

L

sc
al

e:
 1

/8
" =

 1
'-0

"
D

ec
em

be
r 2

, 2
01

9

in
te

rio
r

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

pl
an

ni
ng

.
.

n C
d

es
ig

n
ck

es
te

i
hu

t
hi

ar
crr

ec
ts,

P CC

dn
he

on









Ordinance Number 2908 
Page 1 

 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2908 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AND ENACTING PROCEDURES AND 
REQUIREMENTS FOR UNCLAIMED PROPERTY FOR THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS POLICE DEPARTMENT AND MUNICIPAL COURT 

 
WHEREAS, in 2013, the Code entitled "The Code of Ordinances of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama," (“the Code”) was re-published by Municipal Code Corporation, consisting of 

chapters 1 through 17, each inclusive, was adopted; and 

WHEREAS, Municipalities in Alabama are exempt from the Uniform Disposition of 

Unclaimed Property Act of 2004 by virtue of Title 35-12-73(a)(2) and Title 11-40-15, Code of 

Alabama, 1975; and 

WHEREAS, additions or amendment so the code are needed to address unclaimed 

property within the Vestavia Hills Police Department and the Vestavia Hills Municipal Court and 

procedures for handling same; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council find it in the best public interest to make the 

necessary additions or amendments a part of the Code in order to establish procedures for handling 

of unclaimed properties in the Vestavia Hills Police Department and Vestavia Hills Municipal 

Court.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, that the City’s code be amended as 

follows: 

SECTION 1. ABANDONED AND STOLEN PROPERTY. 

A. For the purpose of this Ordinance Number 2908, the term “Property” shall mean any cash 

property, including, but not limited to any amounts forfeited, abandoned or stolen which is 

received and is held and stored for a requisite period of time as established by state, county, 

local laws and departmental rules and procedures. 

B. Property is presumed abandoned if it is unclaimed by the apparent owner during the time 

set forth below for the particular property: 

1. Property held by a court, government, governmental subdivision, agency, or 

instrumentality becomes distributable in accordance with State, county, local, and 

departmental rules and procedures. 



Ordinance Number 2908 
Page 2 

 

 

2. Police forfeitures as applicable laws. 

C. Property is unclaimed if, for the applicable period set forth in subsection (a), the apparent 

owner has not communicated in writing, or by other means reflected in a contemporaneous 

record prepared by or on behalf of the holder, with the holder concerning the property or 

the account in which the property is held, and has not otherwise indicated an interest in the 

property. A communication with an owner by a person other than the holder or its 

representative who has not in writing identified the property to the owner is not an 

indication of interest in the property by the owner. 

SECTION 2.   PROCEDURE FOR REDEMPTION OF ABANDONED PROPERTY. 

A. An indication of an owner's or apparent owner's interest in property includes any of the 

following: 

1. The presentment of a check or other instrument of payment. 

2. The making of a deposit to or withdrawal from a bank account. Any correspondence 

in writing from the holder to the apparent owner, such as the mailing of a statement, 

report of interest paid or credited, renewal of a deposit or other written information 

relating to the deposit shall be construed to mean that the apparent owner has 

indicated an interest in the deposit if the correspondence in writing is not returned 

to the holder for non-delivery thereof. Any activity or indication of interest by an 

apparent owner in the deposit or in any other deposits in a holder shall be construed 

to be activity and indication of interest in all other deposits of the apparent owner 

in the holder. 

D. Property is payable or distributable for purposes of this article notwithstanding the failure 

of the owner or apparent owner to make demand or present an instrument or document 

otherwise required to obtain payment. 

E. Upon declaring property unclaimed under section (a) and (b) the City of Vestavia Hills 

shall promptly deposit the unclaimed property in the departmental designated accounts. 

F. The City of Vestavia Hills shall retain 10% of all unclaimed property in the Unclaimed 

Property Reserve Fund. 



Ordinance Number 2908 
Page 3 

 

 

G. A holder of property presumed abandoned shall make a proof of claim to the City of 

Vestavia Hills Finance Department concerning the property.  The report shall be filed in 

person.  The City of Vestavia Hills Finance Department may grant an exception upon 

written request as established by rule. 

1. The proof of claim must be verified, balanced, and shall contain, but not limited to: 

a) A description of the property; 

b) copy of the owners driver’s license or any official form used for 

identification; 

c) The owners current address and list of all addresses used that may be 

associated with the property being claimed;  

d) The owners Social Security number; 

e) A daytime phone number(s). 

2. The City of Vestavia Hills shall review the request of claim and take one (1) of the 

following steps: 

a) Contact the claimant for additional information; 

b) Deny the claim by written notification; or 

c) Accept the claim for ownership and submit payment within thirty (30) 

days of the date of the claim submission. 

SECTION 3.  REPEALER.   

In the event that any Ordinance or part thereof is in conflict with this Ordinance, then said 

Ordinance or part is hereby deemed repealed 

SECTION 4.  SEVERABILITY. 

If any part, section or subdivision of this resolution shall be held unconstitutional or invalid 

for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the remainder of this 

resolution, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2908 
Page 4 

 

 

SECTION 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE. 

This Ordinance Number 2908 shall become effective immediately following adoption and 

publishing/posting pursuant to Alabama law. 

 DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
       Ashley C. Curry  
       Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 

 I, Rebecca H. Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance Number 2908 is a true and correct copy of 
such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills on the 27th 
day of January, 2020, as same appears in the official records of said City. 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, and Vestavia 
Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 2020. 

 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 




	2020_0113CC_A
	2019_1209CC_M
	2019_1216_CC_work session
	2019_1216CC_M
	Proclamation J Harper retirement 2020
	Proclamation Human Trafficking Aware Month Jan 2020
	Resolution 5216
	Resolution 5217
	Ordinance 2907
	Ordinance 2905
	Ordinance 2906
	Ordinance 2908



